READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0000.01/PAGE 1 of 1 ADOPTION RESOLUTION

0000.01 ADOPTION RESOLUTION

RESOLVED, that the bylaws and policies printed and codified in the comprehensive document entitled "Bylaws and Policies of the Readington Township Board of Education are hereby adopted and that all bylaws and policies heretofore adopted by the Readington Township Board of Education and inconsistent with the bylaws and policies hereby adopted are hereby rescinded, and be it further

RESOLVED, that in the event any policy, part of a policy or section of the bylaws is judged to be inconsistent with law or inoperative by a court of competent jurisdiction or is invalidated by a policy or contract duly adopted by this Board, the remaining bylaws, policies, and parts of policies shall remain in full effect.

Adopted by the Readington Township Board of Education in the County of Hunterdon at a public meeting held at 52 Readington Road, Whitehouse Station, New Jersey on the 13th day of May, 2025.

Adopted: May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0110/Page 1 of 1 IDENTIFICATION

0110 IDENTIFICATION

Name

The official name of the Board of Education shall be "The Board of Education of Readington Township in the County of Hunterdon."

Purpose

The Board of Education exists for the purpose of providing a thorough and efficient system of free public education in grades Pre-Kindergarten through eight in the Readington Township School District.

Composition

The Readington Township School District is comprised of all the area within the municipal boundaries of Readington Township.

Classification

The school district shall be classified as a Type II district.

Address

The address of the Board of Education shall be: 52 Readington Road, Whitehouse Station, NJ 08889

N.J.S.A. 18A:8-1; 18A:9-2; 18A:9-3; 18A:10-2

Adopted: May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0134/Page 1 of 1 BOARD SELF EVALUATION

0134 BOARD SELF EVALUATION

The Board of Education is committed to the belief that every part of the school system in this district should be accountable to the public and that performance evaluation is essential to that accountability. The Board further believes that the improvement and growth of any institution depends upon an honest appraisal of its strengths and weaknesses. The Board accepts, therefore, responsibility for the conduct of a systematic program of self-evaluation and appraisal. The standards against which the Board will evaluate itself will be the educational goals, bylaws, and policies duly adopted by this Board.

The Board of Education will conduct a self-evaluation on an annual basis. In the event the Board determines to conduct a self-evaluation, it will adopt an evaluation instrument that permits individual Board members to record their assessments of the conduct of the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in accordance with applicable statutes and administrative codes.

The assessments will be tabulated by the Board President or designee and presented for discussion at a regular meeting of the Board in which the Superintendent will be invited to participate. The Board will formulate, as appropriate, goals and priorities that will serve to guide the Board's future conduct.

N.J.S.A. 18A:11-1

Adopted: 22 March 2005 Revised: 28 April 2015 Revised: 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0141/Page 1 of 1 BOARD MEMBER NUMBER AND TERM

0141 BOARD MEMBER NUMBER AND TERM

The Board of Education shall consist of 9 members.

The term of a Board member shall be 3 years except vacancies in the membership of the Board shall be filled in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:12-15. Each Board member appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve until the organizational meeting following the next annual election unless the Board member is appointed to fill a vacancy occurring within the sixty days immediately preceding such election if the annual election is held in April, or occurring after the third Monday in July if the election is held in November, to fill a term extending beyond such election, in which case the Board member shall serve until the organizational meeting following the second annual election next succeeding the occurrence of the vacancy, and any vacancy for the remainder of the term shall be filled at the annual election or the second annual election next succeeding the occurrence of the vacancy, as the case may be. A Board vacancy shall be filled by a roll call vote of the majority of present Board members.

N.J.S.A. 18A:12-6; 18A:12-9; 18A:12-11; 18A:12-15

N.J.S.A. 18A:13-8 et seq. [regional districts] N.J.S.A. 18A:54-16 et seq. [vocational districts]

Adopted: September 10, 2024

Revised: May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws

0142/Page 1 of 5

BOARD MEMBER QUALIFICATIONS, PROHIBITED ACTS AND CODE OF ETHICS (M)

0142 <u>BOARD MEMBER QUALIFICATIONS, PROHIBITED ACTS AND CODE OF</u> ETHICS (M)

Each member of the Board of Education shall possess the qualifications required by law and shall be bound by the provisions of the School Ethics Act.

Qualification of Office

A Board member must be a citizen of the United States.

A Board member must be a resident of the district the member represents and must have been such for at least one year immediately preceding the member's election or appointment.

A Board member must be able to read and write.

A Board member must be registered to vote in the district and not disqualified from voting pursuant to N.J.S.A. 19:4-1.

A Board member may not have been convicted of a crime or offense as listed in N.J.S.A. 18A:12-1.

A Board member cannot concurrently hold office as mayor or a member of the governing body of Readington Township.

Each member of the Board of Education, within thirty days of election or appointment to the Board shall undergo a criminal history background investigation for the purpose of ensuring the member is not disqualified from membership due to a criminal conviction of a crime or offense listed in N.J.S.A. 18A:12-1 et seq. The Board of Education will reimburse the Board member for the costs of the criminal history record check (registration and fingerprinting fees*). The Commissioner of Education shall notify the Board of Education if a member has been disqualified from membership on the Board as the result of the criminal history record check. The Commissioner of Education will also notify the Board if a Board member has charges enumerated in N.J.S.A. 18A:12-1 pending against him/her and the Board shall take appropriate action. If the pending charges result in conviction, the member shall be disqualified from continued membership on the Board.

Prohibited Acts



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0142/Page 2 of 5

BOARD MEMBER QUALIFICATIONS, PROHIBITED ACTS AND CODE OF ETHICS (M)

"Business" means any corporation, partnership, firm, enterprise, franchise, association, trust, sole proprietorship, union, political organization, or other legal entity but does not include a school district or other public entity.

"Interest" means the ownership of or control of more than ten percent of the profits, assets, or stocks of a business but does not include the control of assets in a labor union.

"Immediate family" means the person to whom the Board member is legally married and any dependent child of the Board member residing in the same household.

No Board member or member of his/her immediate family shall have an interest in a business organization or engage in any business, transaction, or professional activity that is in substantial conflict with the proper discharge of his/her duties in the public interest.

No Board member shall use or attempt to use his/her official position to secure unwarranted privileges, advantages, or employment for him/herself, members of his/her immediate family, or others.

No Board member shall act in his/her official capacity in any matter where he/she, a member of his/her immediate family, or a business organization in which he/she has an interest, has a direct or indirect financial or personal involvement that might reasonably be expected to impair his/her independence of judgment in the exercise of official duties. No Board member shall act in his/her official capacity in any matter where he/she or a member of his/her immediate family has a personal involvement that is or creates some benefit to the Board member or a member of his/her immediate family.

No Board member shall undertake any employment or service, whether compensated or not, which might reasonably be expected to prejudice his/her independence of judgment in the exercise of official duties.

No Board member or member of his/her immediate family or business organization in which he/she has an interest shall solicit or accept any gift, favor, loan, political contribution, service, promise of future employment, or other thing of value based upon an understanding that the gift, favor, loan, contribution, service, promise, or other thing of value was given or offered for the purpose of influencing him/her, directly or indirectly, in the discharge of his/her official duties, except that the member may have solicited or accepted contributions to his/her campaign for election to public office if he/she had no knowledge or reason to believe that the campaign contribution, if accepted, was given with the intent to influence him/her in the discharge of official duties. Board



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0142/Page 3 of 5

BOARD MEMBER QUALIFICATIONS, PROHIBITED ACTS AND CODE OF ETHICS (M)

members may not accept offers of meals, entertainment or hospitality which are limited to clients/customers of the individual providing such hospitality. Board members may attend hospitality suites or receptions at conferences only when they are open to all persons attending the conference.

No Board member shall use, or allow to be used, his public office or any information not generally available to the members of the public which he/she receives or acquires in the course of and by reason of his/her office, for the purpose of securing financial gain for him/herself, any member of his/her immediate family, or any business organization with which he/she is associated.

No Board member or business organization in which he/she has an interest shall represent any person or party other than the Board of Education or this school district in connection with any cause, proceeding, application, or other matter pending before this school district or in any proceeding involving this school district, except that this provision shall not be deemed to prohibit representation within the context of official labor union or similar representational responsibilities.

It is not a conflict of interest if, merely by reason of his/her participation in any matter voted upon by the Board, a Board member accrues material or monetary gain that is no greater than the gain that could reasonably be expected to accrue to any other member of the member's business, profession, occupation, or group.

No elected Board member shall be prohibited from making an inquiry for information on behalf of a constituent, if no fee, reward, or other thing of value is promised to or given to or accepted by the member or a member of his/her immediate family, whether directly or indirectly, in return for the information so requested.

Nothing shall prohibit a Board member or members of his/her immediate family from representing him/herself or themselves in negotiations or proceedings concerning his/her or their own interests, except that Board members shall disqualify themselves from participating in negotiations and voting on collective bargaining agreements where their spouse or dependent children are members of the bargaining unit.

Each Board member shall annually, in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:12-25 and 18A:12-26, file a disclosure statement regarding potential conflicts of interest.

Ineligibility for District Employment

A Board member cannot be appointed to a paid office or position required to be filled by the Board, except where law permits or requires that the office or position be



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0142/Page 4 of 5

BOARD MEMBER QUALIFICATIONS, PROHIBITED ACTS AND CODE OF ETHICS (M)

filled by a Board member, and is ineligible for appointment to a paid office or position in the district for at least six months after the member's retirement, resignation, or removal from Board membership.

Code of Ethics

In accordance with N.J.S.A 18A:12-24.1 every Board member will abide by the following Code of Ethics. The Board member will:

- 1. Uphold and enforce all laws, rules and regulations of the State Board of Education and court orders pertaining to schools. Desired changes shall be brought about only through legal and ethical procedures.
- 2. Make decisions in terms of the educational welfare of children and seek to develop and maintain public schools that meet the individual needs of all children regardless of their ability, race, creed, sex, or social standing.
- 3. Confine his/her Board action to policymaking, planning and appraisal, and help to frame policies and plans only after the Board has consulted those who will be affected by them.
- 4. Carry out his/her responsibility not to administer the schools, but together with fellow Board members, insure they are well run.
- 5. Recognize that authority rests with the Board of Education and make no personal promises nor take any private action that may compromise the Board.
- 6. Refuse to surrender his/her independent judgment to special interest or partisan political groups or to use the schools for personal gain or for the gain of friends.
- 7. Hold confidential all matters pertaining to the schools, which, if disclosed, would needlessly injure individuals, or the schools. In all other matters, he/she will provide accurate information and, in concert with fellow Board members, interpret to the staff the aspirations of the community for its school.
- 8. Vote to appoint the best-qualified personnel available after consideration of the recommendation of the chief administrative officer.



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws

0142/Page 5 of 5

BOARD MEMBER QUALIFICATIONS, PROHIBITED ACTS AND CODE OF ETHICS (M)

- 9. Support and protect school personnel in proper performance of their duties.
- 10. Refer all complaints to the chief administrative officer and act on the complaints at public meetings only after failure of an administrative solution.

Each Board member is required to sign an acknowledgment that he/she received a copy, read and will become familiar with the Code of Ethics for School Board Members contained within N.J.S.A. 18A:12-21 et seq. The School Business Administrator/Board Secretary will provide each Board member with a copy of the Code of Ethics and the required acknowledgement on an annual basis and will maintain the original signed acknowledgment(s) in the School Business Administrator/Board Secretary's office.

The Board will receive a copy of and discuss the School Ethics Act and the Code of Ethics for School Board Members, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 12-21 et seq., at a regular scheduled public meeting each year. The discussion may include presentations by school administrative staff, the Board attorney, Board members and/or other professionals familiar with the School Ethics Act and the Code of Ethics. In addition, the Board Attorney will keep the Board informed of decisions by the School Ethics Commission, Commissioner of Education, State Board of Education and courts.

Oath of Office

Each Board member shall, before entering upon the duties of the office, swear or affirm under oath that he/she qualifies for membership and will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of Board member.

N.J.S.A. 18A:12-1; 18A:12-1.1; 18A:12-2;

18A:12-2.1; 18A:12-21 through 18A:12-34

N.J.S.A. 41:1-3

School Ethics Commission Policy Guideline 1.

*indicates Readington language only.

Adopted: March 22, 2005

Revised: October 18, 2011, May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0142.1/Page 1 of 2 NEPOTISM (M)

0142.1 NEPOTISM (M)

M

The Board of Education adopts this Nepotism Policy as a condition of receiving State aid pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-6.2.

For the purposes of this Policy, "relative" means an individual's spouse, by marriage or civil union pursuant to N.J.S.A. 37:1-33, domestic partner as defined in N.J.S.A. 26:8A-3, or the individual's or spouse's parent, child, sibling, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, grandparent, grandchild, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, stepparent, stepchild, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother or half-sister, whether the relative is related to the individual or the individual's spouse by blood, marriage or adoption.

No relative of a Board member or the Superintendent of Schools shall be employed in an office or position in this school district except that a person employed by the school district on the effective date of the Policy or the date a relative becomes a Board member or Superintendent shall not be prohibited from continuing to be employed in the person's current position or, in the case of a reduction in force, in any position to which that person has a legal entitlement.

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-6.2(a)6.(b), per diem substitutes and student employees who are relatives of a Board member or the Superintendent of Schools shall be excluded from the provisions of this Policy and N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-6.2.

The Superintendent of Schools shall not recommend to the Board of Education pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:27-4.1 any relative of a Board member or the Superintendent.

A school district administrator shall be prohibited from exercising direct or indirect authority, supervision, or control over a relative of the administrator. Where it is not feasible to eliminate such a direct or indirect supervisory relationship, appropriate screens and/or alternative supervision and reporting mechanisms must be put in place.

A school district administrator or Board member who has a relative who is a member of the bargaining unit shall be prohibited from discussing or voting on the proposed collective bargaining agreement with that unit or from



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0142.1/Page 2 of 2 NEPOTISM (M)

participating in any way in negotiations, including, but not limited to, being a member of the negotiating team; nor should that school district administrator be present with the Board in closed session when negotiation strategies are being discussed, provided however, that the administrator may serve as a technical resource to the negotiating team and may provide technical information necessary to the collective bargaining process when no one else in the district can provide such information.

A school district administrator or Board member who has an immediate family member who is a member of the same Statewide union in another school district shall be prohibited from participating in any way in negotiations, including but not limited to, being a member of the negotiating team or being present with the Board of Education in closed sessions when negotiation strategies are being discussed, prior to the Board of Education attaining a Tentative Memorandum of Agreement with the bargaining unit that includes a salary guide and total compensation package. Once the Tentative Memorandum of Agreement is established, a school district administrator with an immediate family member who is a member of the same Statewide union in another school district may fully participate in the process, absent other conflicts. Notwithstanding these provisions, a district administrator who has an immediate family member who is a member of the same Statewide union in another district may serve as a technical resource to the negotiating team and may provide technical information necessary to the collective bargaining process when no one else in the district can provide the information.

N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-6.2

Adopted: 23 September 2008

Revised: 7 April 2009, 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0143/ PAGE 1 of 2 BOARD MEMBER ELECTION AND APPOINTMENT

0143 BOARD MEMBER ELECTION AND APPOINTMENT

The election and appointment of Board of Education members will be conducted in strict compliance with law

A vacancy in the membership of a regional Board of Education shall be filled in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:13-11.

A vacancy in the membership of a Board of Education shall be filled as follows:

- 1. By the Executive County Superintendent, if the vacancy is caused by:
- a. The absence of candidates for election to the school Board; or
- b. The removal of a member because of lack of qualifications; or
- c. The failure of the Board to appoint a person to a vacancy within sixty-five days following its occurrence; or
- d. Two or more candidates qualified by law for membership on the Board receiving an equal number of votes in a special runoff election.
- 2. By the Executive County Superintendent, to a number sufficient to make up a quorum of the Board if, by reason of vacancies, a quorum is lacking;
- 3. By special election within sixty days of the annual school election, if:
- a. Two or more candidates qualified by law for membership on the school Board receive an equal number of votes in the annual school election; or
- b. The annual election is disqualified due to improper election procedures.
- 4. By the Commissioner of Education if there is a failure to elect a member at the annual school election due to improper campaign practices; or
- 5. By a majority vote of those present members of the Board of Education after the vacancy occurs in all other cases.



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0143/ PAGE 1 of 2 BOARD MEMBER ELECTION AND APPOINTMENT

The Board Secretary shall promptly notify the President of a vacancy to be filled by the Board. The President shall inform all other Board members. The Board will give public notice of the vacancy and invite any qualified person to submit a written request for consideration of his/her candidacy for the vacancy. The Board may also require candidates submit a resume with their written request.

In considering candidates who have expressed an interest in a vacancy, the Board of Education may interview candidates in public or executive session. The Board must vote to appoint a candidate to a vacancy in public session and there shall be no decisions made in executive session. In the event interviews are conducted in executive session, Board members, in the public session nomination and voting process, shall express their opinion in support of their vote so the public can witness any deliberations, policy formulation, and the decision making process of the Board.

A roll call vote will be conducted on candidates in the order the candidates were nominated with a second. If there are two or more vacancies, each vacancy will be filled by a separate election process. The first candidate who receives the votes of a majority of the remaining Board members will be elected to the vacancy. In the event no candidate receives a majority vote of the present Board members, another election process shall be conducted between the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes.

N.J.S.A. 18A:12-11; 18A:12-15

Adopted: 22 March 2005

Revised: May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0145/Page 1 of 2 BOARD MEMBER RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL

0145 BOARD MEMBER RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL

The membership of a Board of Education member shall terminate immediately upon:

- 1. The cessation of the member's bona fide residency in the school district the member represents (N.J.S.A. 18A:12-2.2); or
- 2. The member's election or appointment to the office of mayor or member of the governing body of Readington Township (N.J.S.A. 18A:12-2.2); or
- 3. The member's disqualification from voting pursuant to N.J.S.A. 19:4-1 (N.J.S.A. 18A:12-2.2); or
- 4. The member falsely affirms or declares that he/she is not disqualified as a voter pursuant to N.J.S.A. 19:4-1 or that he/she is not disqualified from membership on the Board due to conviction of a crime or offense listed in N.J.S.A. 18A:12-1; or
- 5. The removal of the member by the Commissioner of Education; or
- 6. Recall of a Board member pursuant to N.J.S.A. 19:27A-1 et seq.
- 7. The voluntary resignation of a Board member.

A member who fails to attend three consecutive meetings of the Board without good cause may be removed from office on the affirmative votes by majority of the remaining Board members, provided that:

1. The member's removal was proposed at the immediately previous Board meeting; and



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0145/Page 2 of 2 BOARD MEMBER RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL

- 2. Notice of the proposed removal was given to the affected member at least forty-eight hours in advance of the meeting at which the vote will be taken.
- 3. Examples of "good cause" may include but are not limited to: illness or injury of the member or of a family member of a Board member, unforeseen personal or business matters that are not of an ongoing nature. Other examples may be discussed by the Board of Education should the need arise.

N.J.S.A. 18A:12-2; 18A:12-2.2; 18A:12-3; 18A:12-29

N.J.S.A. 19:27A-1 et seq.

Adopted: April 13, 2021

Revised: May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0146/Page 1 of 1 BOARD MEMBER AUTHORITY

0146 BOARD MEMBER AUTHORITY

A Board member does not possess individually the authority and powers that reside in the Board of Education. No Board member by virtue of his/her office shall exercise any administrative responsibility with respect to the operation of the school district or as an individual command the services of any school district employee.

Release of Information

Board member access to public, personnel, and pupil records shall be governed by law and by the provisions of Policy Nos. 8310, 8320, and 8330.

Confidential information to which a Board member becomes privy as a result of his/her office shall be used only for the purpose of helping the member discharge his/her responsibilities as Board member. No Board member shall reveal information contained in a confidential record or received during a duly convened private session of the Board except when that information has been released to the public by the Board.

Public Expressions

Board members are entitled to express themselves publicly on any matter, including issues involving the Board and the school district. Individual Board members cannot, however, express the position of the Board except as expressly authorized, in accordance with Board Policy No. 9120. A Board member shall not represent his/her personal opinion as the position of the Board and shall include in all formal expressions in which his/her Board affiliation is likely to be recognized, such as letters to government officials or newspapers, speeches to organizations, and the like, a statement that the opinions expressed do not necessarily represent those of the Board.

Board members visiting a school shall comply with district policy and procedures for school visitors.

Members of the Board shall adhere to the Code of Ethics for Board members in Bylaw 0142.

Board members shall refer all public complaints to the Superintendent.

N.J.S.A. 18A:11-1

Adopted: 22 March 2005

Revised: 12 October 2010, 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP **BOARD OF EDUCATION**

Bylaws 0153/ PAGE 1 of 1 ANNUAL APPOINTMENTS

0153 ANNUAL APPOINTMENTS

The Board of Education may appoint at the organizational meeting, but shall appoint before July 1 of the year in which the Board organizes:

- 1. A Board Secretary, N.J.S.A. 18A:17-2, 17-5;
- 2. A Treasurer of School Moneys, or designee, N.J.S.A. 18A:17-31;
- 3. A public school accountant, N.J.S.A. 18A:23-1;
- 4. A medical inspector/school physician, N.J.S.A. 18A:40-1;
- 5. A member to serve as delegate to the New Jersey School Boards Association, N.J.S.A. 18A:6-46; and
- 6. A member to serve as delegate to the Hunterdon County School Boards Association;
- 7. An attendance officer, N.J.S.A. 18A:38-32;
- 8. A Board attorney;
- 9. An insurance broker/agent;
- 10. And any other appointments required by law or for proper district operations such as, but not limited to: a homeless liaison, safety and security specialist(s), 504 coordinator, anti-bullying coordinator, anti-bullying specialist(s), affirmative action officer, among others.

Adopted: 22 March 2005

Revised: 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0155/Page 1 of 2 BOARD COMMITTEES

0155 BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board of Education authorizes the creation of committees of Board members charged to conduct studies, make recommendations to the Board, and act in an advisory capacity. Committees are not authorized to take action on behalf of the Board.

The Board of Education maintains five standing committees. The Board of Education Committees are: Education/Technology, Finance and Facilities, Personnel, Policy and Communications, and Green. The Negotiations committee meets during negotiations cycles with bargaining units.

The President shall appoint members to any committee so created and charged. A chairperson will be appointed by the President. During the reorganization meeting committee responsibilities will be discussed with the full Board during the public meeting. Board members will be given the opportunity to express interest in committee(s). Expressed interest does not guarantee an appointment by the President to the specific committee. An ad hoc committee may be created and charged at any time by the President or a majority of the Board members present and voting. Members shall serve until the committee is discharged.

Committees shall consist of no more than four Board members. The President may serve as ex officio member on all Board committees. A member may request or refuse appointment to a committee; a member's refusal to serve on any one committee shall not prejudice his/her appointment to another committee.

The Board reserves the right to meet and work as a Committee of the Whole in informational, discussion, and exploratory sessions. No official action shall be taken at these meetings, unless so advertised.

Committee meetings may be requested at any time by the committee chairperson in collaboration with the Superintendent. If a committee member is not able to attend a committee meeting, notification should be provided to the Committee Chair and cc'd to the Board President and Superintendent. A 24-hour notice is recommended. An alternate will be assigned to the committee and shall attend if possible. If necessary, the Board President will make every effort to appoint a board member to attend the committee meeting. All committees are recommended to meet monthly, but are required to meet at least quarterly.

Committee meetings shall not be open to the public, except that a majority of the committee or the chairperson may open the meeting to the public or invite persons whose knowledge or expertise may be useful to the committee. Should the full Board seek additional information, the chair or Superintendent may invite a representative(s) to a



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0155/Page 2 of 2 BOARD COMMITTEES

committee meeting to gain more information. Representative(s) may or may not be included for the entire meeting depending on the preference of the chair and Superintendent.

Board of Education members are prohibited from recording Board of Education meetings and committee meetings consistent with bylaw 0168. Board of Education members, current and past, shall respect the confidentiality of committee meetings. Further, Board members must be cognizant of items discussed and maintain confidentiality of non-public information when the public or representative(s) are present at a meeting.

Adopted March 22, 2005

Revised: May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0164/Page 1 of 2 CONDUCT OF BOARD MEETING May 25

0164 CONDUCT OF BOARD MEETING

Parliamentary Authority

Roberts' Rules of Order, Newly Revised, shall govern the Board of Education in its deliberations and acts in all cases in which it is not inconsistent with statutes of the State of New Jersey, rules of the State Board of Education, or these bylaws.

Presiding Officer

The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board. In the absence, disability, or disqualification of the President, the Vice President shall act in his/her place; if neither person is present, any member shall be designated by a plurality of those present to preside. The act of any person so designated shall be legal and binding.

Announcement of Adequate Notice

The person presiding shall commence each meeting with an announcement of the notice given for the meeting or a statement regarding the lack of adequate notice, in accordance with law.

Agenda

Call to Order

The Superintendent and School Business Administrator/Board Secretary shall prepare an agenda of items of business to come before the Board at each meeting. The agenda shall be delivered to each Board member no later than two days before the meeting and shall include such reports and supplementary materials as are appropriate and available.

The order of business may be as follows:

Sunshine Law Announcement
Roll Call
Superintendent's Report
Open to the Public
Correspondence
Approval of Minutes
Board Action and Committee Reports related to: Administrative Reports,
Finance/Facilities, Education/Technology, Personnel, Policy/Communications
Unfinished Business



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0164/Page 2 of 2 CONDUCT OF BOARD MEETING May 25

New Business Open to the Public Adjournment

> N.J.S.A. 10:4-10 N.J.S.A. 18A:16-1.1

Adopted: 22 March 2005

Revised: 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0167/ PAGE 1 of 2 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN BOARD MEETINGS May 25

0167 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN BOARD MEETINGS

The Board of Education recognizes the value of public comment on educational issues and the importance of allowing members of the public to express themselves on school matters of community interest.

In order to permit the fair and orderly expression of such comment, the Board shall set aside a portion of every Board meeting, the length of the portion to be determined by the Board, for public comment on any school or school district issue that a member of the public feels may be of concern to the residents of the school district.

Public participation in Board of Education shall occur during the Public Comment section of the agenda and shall be governed by the following rules:

- 1. A participant must be recognized by the presiding officer and must preface comments by an announcement of his/her name, municipality of residence, and group affiliation, if applicable;
- 2. In order to provide sufficient opportunity for the public to be heard, a time limit of three minutes for each participant may be observed and no participant may cede their three minutes to another participant. Every effort will be made to allow all members of the public an opportunity to speak, not to exceed 3 minutes per person. This may be adjusted as the Board President sees fit.
- 3. No participant may speak more than once on the same topic until all others who wish to speak on that topic have been heard;
- 4. All statements, questions, or inquiries shall be directed to the presiding officer and any questions or inquiries directed by a participant to another Board member shall be redirected to the presiding officer who shall determine if such statement, question, or inquiry shall be addressed by the presiding officer on behalf of the Board or by the individual Board member;
- 5. If the Board of Education is webcasting the public meeting, the "chat" feature will be on during the public comment sessions only. Web participants will type the information in as a preface to their comments. Webcast participants making comments via chat may only enter one 256 character comment, excluding the announcement of his/her name and place of residence, unless the presiding officer asks for clarification or further information. The President may, at his/her discretion, limit discussion on any topic.
- The presiding officer may:
- a. Interrupt, warn, and/or terminate a participant's statement, question, or inquiry when it is too lengthy;
- b. Interrupt and/or warn a participant when the statement, question, or inquiry is abusive, obscene, or may be defamatory;
- c. Request any person to leave the meeting when that person does not observe reasonable decorum;



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0167/ PAGE 1 of 3 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN BOARD MEETINGS May 25

- d. Request the assistance of law enforcement officers in the removal of a disorderly person when that person prevents or disrupts a meeting with an act that obstructs or interferes with a meeting;
- e. Call for a recess or an adjournment to another time when the lack of public decorum interferes with the orderly conduct of the meeting; and
- f. Waive these rules when necessary for the protection of privacy or to maintain an orderly operation of the Board meeting.

N.J.S.A. 2C:33-8

N.J.S.A. 10:4-12

Adopted: 22 March 2005

Revised: 24 July 2012

Revised: 8 December 2015

Revised: 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0168/PAGE 1 of 2 Recording Board Meetings May 13

0168 RECORDING BOARD MEETINGS

The Board of Education directs the creation and maintenance of an official record of the formal proceedings of the Board and will permit the unofficial recording of Board meetings in accordance with this Bylaw.

Minutes

The Board shall keep reasonably comprehensible minutes of all its meetings showing the time and place, the members present, the subject considered, the actions taken, the vote of each member, information sufficient to explain the actions taken, and any other information required to be shown in the minutes by law.

Minutes of public meetings shall be public records signed by the Board Secretary and filed in the Board Secretary's office in a minute book as the permanent record of the acts of this Board.

Minutes of executive meetings shall be filed in the Board Secretary's office in a place separate from the minute book until the time, if any, when the proceedings may be made public. At that time, the minutes shall be public records and shall be filed in the regular minute book.

The Board Secretary shall provide each Board member with a copy of the minutes prior to Board approval.

The school Business Administrator/Board Secretary may make a recording as an administrative aid in the preparation of minutes. The recording shall be retained at least forty-five days or until either summary or verbatim transcripts have been approved as minutes, whichever is longer, after which time they may be erased only if permission is granted by the New Jersey Department of State, Division of Archives and Record Management. All such recordings will be erased or destroyed in compliance with laws and rules for the destruction of public records.

The recording may not be able to be destroyed if a subject matter, vote, or Board action on the recording is the subject of litigation. The district will notify the New Jersey Division of Archives and Records Management when requesting permission that a recording be destroyed if the recording includes subject matter in litigation, or the district will not request permission to destroy such recording if the subject matter is in litigation.

Board of Education members are prohibited from recording Board of Education meetings and committee meetings. Board of Education members, current and past, shall respect the confidentiality of committee meetings.

Recording by the Public

A member of the public may record the proceedings of a public meeting of the Board provided the audio or video recording process complies with reasonable guidelines as outlined in this Bylaw. These guidelines are adopted to ensure the recording of the public meeting does not interrupt the proceedings, inhibit the conduct of the meeting, or distract Board members or other observers present at the meeting.



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0168/PAGE 2 of 2 Recording Board Meetings May 13

The Board will permit the use of audio or video recording devices by members of the public to record public meetings.

Prior notice to audio or video record a public meeting is not required provided the person operates the recording device while sitting in the area designated by the Board for public seating. The recording of a meeting from this area shall not obstruct or distract any member of the public from observing and listening to the proceedings of the meeting. If the recording is obstructing the view or is distracting to members of the public, the presiding officer or designee will require the person recording the meeting to relocate to another area of the meeting room.

In the event a member of the public wants or needs to audio or video record a public meeting from an area other than the area designated for public seating, the person shall provide notice of such request to the Board Secretary in advance of the meeting. The Board Secretary or designee shall review the recording guidelines outlined in this Bylaw with the person requesting to record the meeting.

Any member of the public wanting to use a recording device from an area other than the area designated for public seating must be located and operated from inconspicuous locations in the meeting room as determined by the presiding officer or designee. Prior to the meeting, the presiding officer or designee will determine the location of each recording device so each video recording device can record the meeting with an unobstructed view and each audio recording device can record a meeting so the speakers and meeting proceedings can be properly recorded. The location of any recording device operated from an area other than the area designated for public seating will be in an area of the meeting room that is not distracting or obtrusive to Board members, members of the public, or the orderly operation of the meeting. Any recording device used outside the area designated for public seating shall be located within a similar distance from the Board as the public seating area. The presiding officer or designee shall determine when the number of recording devices used outside the area designated for public seating interferes with the conduct of a Board meeting and may order that an interfering recording device be removed or relocated.

Additional lighting shall not be used unless approved by the presiding officer or designee prior to the meeting. All recording devices and any related equipment must be battery operated or operational without the use of district electricity as the district will not permit such equipment to be connected to the school district's electrical service.

The presiding officer or designee shall determine if a recording device interferes with the conduct of a Board meeting and may order that an interfering device be relocated.

N.J.S.A. 10:4-14

Adopted: 22 March 2005

Revised: 27 July 2010

Revised: May 13, 2025





BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws

0169/PAGE 1 of 1

0169 BOARD MEMBER USE OF ELECTRONIC MAIL/INTERNET

The Board of Education is a public body as defined in the New Jersey Open Public Meetings Act, N.J.A.C. 10:4-6 et seq., and the Board and its members are required to comply with the provisions of this Act. It is the right of the public to be present at meetings of public bodies and to witness in full all phases of the deliberations, policy formulation, and decision-making. Board members acknowledge certain discussions between Board members, other than during a Board meeting, may be subject to the provisions of the Open Public Meetings Act.

The Board of Education is also subject to the Open Public Records Act, N.J.S.A. 47:1A-1 et seq. The Open Public Records Act requires public agencies/School Boards to make certain governmental records subject to public access. Board members may, by written and/or electronic mail (e-mail), communicate with each other and with certain school staff regarding the school district's public business. "Public business" means and includes all matters that relate in any way, directly or indirectly, to the performance of the public body's functions or the conduct of its business. Board members acknowledge these written communications may be classified as a governmental record and may be subject to public access pursuant to the Open Public Records Act.

In order to ensure the Board and/or individual Board members comply with the requirements of the Open Public Meetings Act and the Open Public Records Act, the following guidance is provided regarding certain discussions and written communications regarding the public business:

- 1. Written letters, e-mails, and supporting documents regarding school district matters written by Board members to other Board members or written by Board members to school staff, unless the subject matter is specifically exempt under the Open Public Records Law, are governmental records and are subject to public access. Based on the potential for improper/inappropriate disclosure and/or breach of confidentiality that may compromise the Board or Board member, these communications should not involve confidential matters, especially any matter the Board may discuss in executive/private session outside the presence of the public pursuant to the Open Public Meetings Act.
- 2. Written letters, internet (chat) discussions, e-mails, and supporting documents regarding the school district's public business written by Board members to other Board members shall not replace deliberations that would prevent the public from witnessing in full detail all phases of the Board's deliberations, policy formulation, and decision-making process in accordance with the intent of the Open Public Meetings Act.
- 3. Internet (chat) discussions between Board members regarding the school district's public business shall not include multiple Board members with the potential that a quorum of the Board may be involved, or become involved, in such discussion.

The Board of Education recognizes a member's First Amendment Rights as a private citizen to have a social media platform and make posts on said platform. Board members are reminded that, as elected officials, they are held to a higher standard and bound by their oath when engaging on social media. When making posts on social media platforms the member shall be guided by the Code of Ethics for School Board Members N.J.S.A. 18A: 12-24.1.,regardless of the use of a disclaimer

In the event a Board member(s) fails to comply with the guidance of this Policy, the matter shall be referred to the Board President, who will meet and/or discuss the matter and this Policy with the Board member(s). The Board President may request the Board Attorney participate in this meeting and/or discussion.

N.J.S.A. 10:6-4 et seq. N.J.S.A. 47:1A et seq. N.J.S.A. 18A: 12-24.1.

Adopted: March 22, 2005 Revised: May 13, 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0171/Page 1 of 2 DUTIES OF BOARD PRESIDENT AND VICE PRESIDENT

0171 DUTIES OF BOARD PRESIDENT AND VICE PRESIDENT

The President of the Board of Education shall:

- 1. Preside at all meetings of the Board;
- 2. Require the Board Secretary to call special meetings of the Board, N.J.A.C. 6A:32-3.1;
- 3. Sign all school district warrants, N.J.S.A. 18A:19-1;
- 4. Certify to all payrolls, N.J.S.A. 18A:19-9;
- 5. Subscribe bonds, notes, contracts, and other legal instruments for which the signature of the President is required, N.J.S.A. 18A:24-32;
- 6. Issue subpoenas to compel attendance of witnesses and production of documents, N.J.S.A. 18A:6-20;
- 7. Appoint all committees of the Board and chairpersons;
- 8. Serve as committee member ex-officio in accordance with Board Bylaw 0155;
- 9. Assist in the preparation of the Board agenda
- 10. Reviews the Board agenda in advance and presents questions, if any, to the Superintendent and Business Administrator;
- 11. Represents the Board of Education at public events including but not limited to graduation, awards night(s), and faculty welcome back;
- 12. Develops a working relationship with the Superintendent. Regards the Superintendent as an equal and the district's long-term leader and top professional. Maintains availability for phone calls from the Superintendent;
- 13. Makes contact with individual Board members regarding any issues where other Board members need further information;
- 14. Hears all voices of Board members and builds consensus.



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

 ${ \begin{tabular}{l} Bylaws\\ 0171/Page~2~of~2\\ DUTIES~OF~BOARD~PRESIDENT~AND~VICE~PRESIDENT\\ \end{tabular} }$

- 15. Consults the Board attorney regarding opinions and legal advice needed;
- 16. May craft communication and press releases on behalf of the Board of Education, including yearbook messages.

As presiding officer of all meetings of the Board, the President shall:

- 1. Call the meeting to order at the appointed time;
- 2. Announce the business to come before the Board in its proper order;
- 3. Enforce the Board's policies relating to the order of business and the conduct of meetings;
- 4. Recognize persons who desire to speak, and protect the speaker who has the floor from disturbance interference;
- 5. Explain what the effect of a motion would be if it is not clear to every member;
- 6. Restrict discussion to the question when a motion is before the Board;
- 7. Answer all parliamentary inquiries, referring questions of law to the Board's Attorney; and
- 8. Put motions to a vote, stating definitely and clearly the vote and result thereof.

The Vice President shall assume and discharge the duties of the President in the President's absence, disability, or disqualification. N.J.S.A. 18A:16-1.1

Adopted: 22 March 2005

Revised: 12 October 2010, 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0174/Page 1 of 3 LEGAL SERVICES

0174 LEGAL SERVICES

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-5.2, the Board of Education adopts this Policy and its strategies to ensure the use of legal services by employees and the Board of Education members and the tracking of the use of legal services.

The Board of Education authorizes the Superintendent of Schools, the Superintendent of Schools' designee, the School Business Administrator/Board Secretary, the Board President and the Director of Pupil Services as designated contact person(s) to request services or advice from contracted legal counsel.

The School Business Administrator shall be responsible to review all legal bills and confer with designated contact persons in reviewing such legal bills.

In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-5.2(a)2, the Board designates the administrative staff member to review all legal bills and designates contact persons to ensure the prudent use of legal services.

The Board of Education authorizes the establishment of the following procedures to guide such solicitation of legal advice:

- 1. The designated contact person(s) shall ensure that contracted legal counsel is not contacted unnecessarily for management decisions or readily available information contained in district materials such as Board policies, administrative regulations, or guidance available through professional source materials.
- 2. All requests for legal advice shall be made to the designated contact person(s) in writing and shall be maintained on file in the district offices. The designated contact person shall determine whether the request warrants legal advice or if legal advice is necessary. The designated contact person shall refer the request to the appropriate school/department administrator in the event the designated contact person deems legal advice is unwarranted or unnecessary.
- 3. The designated contact person(s) shall maintain a log of all legal counsel contact including the name of the legal counsel



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0174/Page 2 of 3 LEGAL SERVICES

contacted, date of the contact, issue discussed, and length of contact.

4. All written requests for legal advice and logs of legal counsel contacts shall be forwarded to the School Business Administrator who shall be responsible to compare all legal bills to the contact logs and to investigate and resolve any variances.

Any professional services contract(s) for legal services shall prohibit advance payments. Services to be provided shall be described in detail in the contract and invoices for payment shall itemize the services provided for the billing period. Payments to legal counsel(s) shall only be for services actually provided.

School districts and vocational school districts are prohibited from contracting with legal counsel or using in-house legal counsel to pursue any affirmative claim or cause of action on behalf of district administrators and/or any individual Board members or pursuing any claim or cause of action for which the damages to be awarded would benefit an individual rather than the school district as a whole.

The Board of Education will annually establish, prior to budget preparation, a maximum dollar limit for each type of professional service, including legal services. In the event it becomes necessary to exceed the established maximum dollar limit for the professional service, the Superintendent of Schools shall recommend to the Board of Education an increase in the maximum dollar amount. Any increase in the maximum dollar amount shall require formal Board action.

Contracts for legal services will be issued by the Board in a deliberative and efficient manner such as through a request for proposals based on cost and other specified factors or another comparable process that ensures the district receives the highest quality services at a fair and competitive price or through a shared service arrangement. Contracts for legal services shall be limited to non-recurring or specialized work for which the district does not possess adequate in-house resources or in-house expertise to conduct.

N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-5.2



READINGTON TOWNSHIP **BOARD OF EDUCATION**

Bylaws 0174/Page 3 of 3 LEGAL SERVICES

Adopted: 23 September 2008 Revised: 13 May 2025



READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bylaws 0177/Page 1 of 1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

0177 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-5.2, the Board of Education adopts this Policy and its strategies to minimize the cost of professional services.

The Board of Education will establish annually prior to budget preparation a maximum dollar limit for each type of professional service. In the event it becomes necessary to exceed the established maximum dollar limit for the professional services, the Superintendent of Schools shall recommend to the Board of Education an increase in the maximum dollar amount. Any increase in the maximum dollar amount shall require formal Board action.

Contracts for professional services will be issued by the Board in a deliberative and efficient manner that ensures the district receives the highest quality services at a fair and competitive price or through a shared service arrangement. This may include, but is not limited to, issuance of such contracts through a Request for Proposals (RFP) based on cost and other specified factors or other comparable processes. Contracts for professional services shall be limited to non-recurring or specialized work for which the district does not possess adequate in-house resources or in-house expertise to conduct

Nothing in this Policy or N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-5.2 shall preclude the Board from complying with the requirements of any statute, administrative code, or regulation for the award of professional services contracts.

N.J.A.C. 6A:23A-5.2

Adopted: 23 September 2008

Revised: 13 May 2025

